RECEIVED

Feb 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Number: 2024-000107

Jill S. Amoruso.....Appellant,

v.

United Services Automobile Association d/b/a USAA.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Bert G. Utsey, III (SC Bar No. 10093)
Samuel R Clawson, Jr. (SC Bar No. 76065)
Christy Fagnoli (SC Bar No. 77528)
CLAWSON FARGNOLI UTSEY, LLC
2 Amherst Street
Charleston, SC 29403
(843) 970-2700
bert@cfulaw.com
sam@cfulaw.com
christy@cfulaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Was USAA required to offer underinsured motorist coverage on all six vehicles insured by the subject motor vehicle liability insurance policy?
2. Should the policy be reformed to include underinsured motorist coverage on all six vehicles?
3. Can Appellant recover stacked underinsured motorist coverage for all six vehicles?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jill S. Amoruso (“Amoruso”) filed this action on August 18, 2022, seeking a declaratory judgment that a motor vehicle liability insurance policy (the “Policy”) issued to her by Respondent United Services Automobile Association (“USAA”) provided underinsured motorist (“UIM”) coverage in the amount of \$300,000 per person for all six vehicles listed on the Policy and reforming the Policy accordingly. (R. pp. __; Complaint, ¶¶ 30-39). Amoruso also sought declarations that she could stack all UIM coverage afforded by the Policy and that the stacked UIM coverage was applicable to her judgment for bodily injury damages as a result of a collision that occurred while the Policy was in effect. (R. pp. __; Complaint, ¶¶ 11-15, 24-34, 39).¹

USAA filed an Amended Answer on March 15, 2023. (R. p. __; Am. Answer). There, it admitted most of the operative factual allegations but denied that the Policy provided UIM coverage for two of the six insured vehicles. (R. pp. __; Am. Answer, ¶¶ 7-19, 24-29).²

On January 23, 2023, Amoruso filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. p. __; Motion for Partial S.J.). USAA filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on March 15, 2023. (R.

¹ Amoruso also alleged causes of action for breach of contract and bad faith. (R. pp. __; Complaint, ¶¶ 41-63). Those claims are not at issue in this appeal.

² USAA previously paid Amoruso UIM coverage on four of the six vehicles insured by the Policy; so, UIM coverage on those vehicles was not in dispute. (R. pp. __; Complaint, ¶¶ 8, 10, 27; Am. Answer, ¶¶ 8, 10, 27).

p. __; Motion for S.J.). On July 12, 2023, USAA filed a Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. __; Memorandum in Support).

The pending motions came before Circuit Court Judge Jennifer B. McCoy for a hearing on July 13, 2023. (R. p. __; Tr. p. 1). By Form 4 Orders dated November 13, 2023, Judge McCoy granted USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment and denied Amoruso's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. pp. __; Form 4 Orders dated November 13, 2023). The Form 4 Orders stated a formal Order would follow. On November 30, 2023, Judge McCoy filed a formal Order granting USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Amoruso's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. pp. __; Order dated November 30, 2023).

On December 4, 2023, Amoruso filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judge McCoy's Order. (R. p. __; Motion to Alter or Amend). Judge McCoy denied the Motion to Alter or Amend without a hearing via a Form 4 Order dated January 19, 2024. (R. p. __; Form 4 Order dated January 19, 2024).

On January 23, 2024, Amoruso filed a timely Notice of Appeal from Judge McCoy's Order granting USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Amoruso's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as well as her Order denying Amoruso's Motion to Alter or Amend.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Declaratory judgment actions are neither legal nor equitable and, therefore, the standard of review depends on the nature of the underlying issues.” *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009). “When the purpose of the underlying dispute is to determine whether coverage exists under an insurance policy, the action is one at law.” *Crossmann Communities of N.C. v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co.*, 395 S.C. 40, 46, 717 S.E.2d 589, 592 (2011). Additionally, where the court is presented with a question of statutory construction a question of

law is involved. *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Windham*, 438 S.C. 156, 159, 882 S.E.2d 754, 756 (2022).

“When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts.” *WDW Properties v. City of Sumter*, 342 S.C. 6, 10, 535 S.E.2d 631, 632 (2000). “In such cases, the appellate court owes no particular deference to the trial court’s legal conclusions.” *J.K. Construction v. W. Carolina Regional Sewer Auth.*, 336 S.C. 162, 166, 519 S.E.2d 561, 563 (1999).

When cross motions for summary judgment are filed, the issue is decided as a matter of law. When reviewing an insurance policy, the general rules of contract construction apply. ... Further, the interpretation of a statute is a question of law, which [the appellate court must] review de novo.

Neumayer v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 427 S.C. 261, 265, 831 S.E.2d 406, 408 (2019) (internal citations omitted).

ARGUMENTS

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

The facts related to the issues presented by the parties’ cross motions for summary judgment (and, therefore, by this appeal) are undisputed.

USAA issued the Policy. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶ 7; Am. Answer, ¶ 7; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J.). Amoruso was the named insured on the Policy. (R. pp. ___; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., p. 6). The Policy insured six vehicles. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶ 8; Am. Answer, ¶ 8; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., pp. 6-8). The Policy provided several types of coverages, including liability insurance coverage. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶ 9; Am. Answer, ¶ 9; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., pp. 6-8).

However, the Policy only insured four of its six vehicles for liability and UIM coverage. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶ 10; Am. Answer, ¶ 10; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., pp. 6-8). The

two insured vehicles without those coverages were listed on the Policy as a 2016 Montana camper (the “Montana”) and a 2007 Adams horse trailer (the “Adams”), both of which USAA described as “vehicles” on the Policy’s declarations pages. (R. pp. ___; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., pp. 6-8). In fact, USAA did not even offer Amoruso liability coverage or UIM coverage on the Montana or the Adams. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶ 38; Am. Answer, ¶ 38; USAA’s Resp. to R.F.P., ¶¶ 8-10). Rather, these two vehicles were only insured for “physical damage coverage,” which included collision coverage and comprehensive coverage. (R. pp. ___; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., pp. 7-8).

The Policy’s collision coverage stated: “[USAA] will pay for **loss** caused by **collision** to **your covered auto**, including its equipment, and personal property contained in **your covered auto**, minus and applicable deductible shown on the Declarations.” (R. p. ___; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., p. 35) (bold in original). The Policy defined “your covered auto” as “any vehicle shown on the Declarations.” (R. p. ___; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., p. 19). The Policy’s comprehensive coverage applied to losses caused “other than by collision” to covered autos. (R. p. ___; Ex. C to USAA’s Mtn. for S.J., p. 34).

On January 7, 2017, while the Policy was in effect, Amoruso was seriously injured in a motor vehicle collision while occupying one of the insured vehicles. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶¶ 10-12; Am. Answer, ¶¶ 10-12). She filed suit against the at-fault motorist and served USAA, as her UIM insurer, with the pleadings. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶¶ 14-15; Am. Answer, ¶¶ 14-15). After the Defendant’s liability coverage of \$100,000 was tendered, USAA assumed defense of the lawsuit. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶¶ 17, 19; Am. Answer, ¶¶ 17, 19). The action was tried to a jury verdict, which resulted in a judgment in favor of Amoruso in the amount of \$2,400,000 after the setoff for liability coverage. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶¶ 24-25; Am. Answer, ¶¶ 24-25).

USAA conceded it provided UIM coverage with limits of \$300,000 on the vehicle Amoruso occupied at the time of the collision, as well as on three other vehicles listed on the Policy; it also agreed that Amoruso was entitled to stack that UIM coverage as a Class 1 insured. (R. pp. __; Complaint, ¶¶ 26-27, 31; Am. Answer, ¶¶ 26-27, 31). As a result, USAA tendered to Amoruso a total of \$1,200,000 in UIM coverage. (R. pp. __; Complaint, ¶ 27; Am. Answer, ¶ 27). This left \$1,200,000 of the judgment unsatisfied.

Amoruso claimed that USAA was required by statute to offer UIM coverage on the Montana and the Adams and, because it failed to do so, the Policy should be reformed to include UIM coverage on those vehicles, with limits on each equal to the \$300,000 liability coverage limits afforded by the Policy. USAA disagreed. Plaintiff then filed this action setting forth, among other allegations, this justiciable controversy between the parties.

Ruling on the summary judgment motions, the Circuit Court rejected Amoruso's position and ruled in favor of USAA. In doing so, it concluded that S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-77-160's requirement that an insurer offer UIM coverage on vehicles insured by South Carolina automobile insurance policies did not apply to the Montana and the Adams. The Circuit Court reasoned that, because the Montana and the Adams are not self-propelled vehicles, they are not "motor vehicles" for purposes of automobile insurance statutes (R. pp. __; Order dated November 30, 2023, pp. 2-3) and that, because USAA only provided collision coverage on the Montana and the Adams, it had no duty to offer UIM coverage on those vehicles. (R. p. __; Order dated November 30, 2023, p. 4).

II. USAA WAS STATUTORILY REQUIRED TO OFFER UIM COVERAGE ON ALL VEHICLES INSURED BY THE POLICY AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING OTHERWISE.

A. Automobile insurers are required to offer UIM coverage on insured vehicles.

Automobile insurers in South Carolina must offer to their insureds UIM coverage, the purpose of which is “to provide coverage in the event that damages are sustained in excess of the liability limits carried by an at-fault insured or underinsured motorist...” S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-77-160 (1976, as amended).³ Although UIM coverage is not mandatory like uninsured motorist coverage, it is “statutorily required coverage.” *Nationwide Ins. Co. of Am. v. Knight*, 433 S.C. 371, 380-81, 858 S.E.2d 633, 638 (2021). That is, insurers are required to offer UIM coverage and are also required to provide it when an insured chooses to purchase it.

If an insurer fails to make a meaningful offer of UIM coverage, the court must reform the policy to include UIM coverage as a matter of law, with limits equal to the policy’s liability coverage limits. *Butler v. Unisun Ins. Co.*, 323 S.C. 402, 405, 475 S.E.2d 758, 760 (1996); *Ackerman v. Travelers Indem. Co.*, 318 S.C. 137, 144, 456 S.E.2d 408, 411 (Ct. App. 1995).

It is undisputed USAA did not offer UIM coverage on the Montana and the Adams. Thus, the dispositive question presented to the Circuit Court – and now in this appeal – is whether USAA was an “automobile insurer” required to offer UIM coverage to Amoruso for all “motor vehicles” covered by the Policy. If the Court concludes USAA was an “automobile insurer” with respect to the Policy and that the Montana and the Adams were “motor vehicles,” then it should reverse the Circuit Court and reform the Policy to include UIM coverage on the Montana and the Adams.

³ Section 38-77-160 actually imposes this duty on “automobile insurance carriers” rather than “automobile insurers.” However, our Supreme Court has ruled that the term “automobile insurance carrier” is synonymous with the terms “insurer” and “automobile insurer” for purposes of Title 38, Chapter 77. *Miller v. Aiken*, 364 S.C. 303, 305, 613 S.E.2d 364, 365 (2005).

B. USAA is an “automobile insurer.”

Automobile insurance in South Carolina is governed by Title 38, Chapter 77 of the South Carolina Code. Code Section 38-77-30 (2) defines “automobile insurer” as “an insurer licensed to do business in South Carolina and authorized to issue automobile insurance policies.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-77-30 (2) (1976, as amended).

USAA admits it is an insurer licensed to do business and to write automobile insurance policies in this State. (R. pp. ___; Complaint, ¶ 4; Am. Answer, ¶ 4). It is therefore an “automobile insurer” and an “automobile insurance carrier.” *See Miller v. Aiken*, 364 S.C. at 308, 613 S.E.2d at 367.

C. The Policy is an “automobile insurance policy.”

Title 38, Chapter 77 also includes the following definitions relevant to this appeal:

“Automobile insurance” means automobile bodily injury and property damage liability insurance, including medical payments and uninsured motorist coverage, *and automobile physical damage insurance such as automobile comprehensive physical damage, collision, fire, theft, combined additional coverage, and similar automobile physical damage insurance* and economic loss benefits as provided by this chapter written or offered by automobile insurers.

...

“Policy of automobile insurance” or “policy” means a policy or contract for bodily injury or property damage liability insurance issued or delivered in this State covering liability arising from the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle....

S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-77-30 (1) & (10.5) (1976, as amended) (emphasis added).

The Policy provides “automobile insurance” via various coverages, including bodily injury liability insurance, property damage liability insurance, and physical damage insurance. Thus, the Policy is an “automobile insurance policy” or “policy of automobile insurance” because it provides liability insurance and was issued in this State. *See also Peagler v. USAA Ins. Co.*, 368 S.C. 153, 159, 628 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2006) (equating the term “automobile insurance policy” with “policy of automobile insurance” as used in Section 38-77-30 (10.5)).

D. USAA had a duty to offer UIM coverage on the Montana and the Adams.

1. Automobile insurers must provide liability coverage in automobile insurance policies.

Despite the above statutory provisions, the Circuit Court concluded USAA was not required to offer UIM coverage on the Montana and the Adams. Its rationale was based on two premises. First, the Circuit Court reasoned USAA was not required to provide liability insurance coverage on those vehicles because they are not “motor vehicles.” (R. pp. __; Order dated November 30, 2023, pp. 2-3). Second, it relied upon *Miller v. Aiken* for the proposition that an insurer which provides collision coverage without liability coverage has no duty to offer UIM coverage. (R. p. __; Order dated November 30, 2023, p. 4). Both of the Circuit Court’s premises are flawed, as is its conclusion.

Although USAA did not write liability coverage on the Montana or the Adams, that does not answer the question of whether it should have done so. The Circuit Court apparently appreciated this distinction because it began its analysis with reference to Section 38-77-140, the statutory mandate to provide liability insurance coverage. (R. p. __; Order dated November 30, 2023, p. 2). That statute states:

An automobile insurance policy may not be issued or delivered in this State to the owner of a motor vehicle or may not be issued or delivered by an insurer licensed in this State upon a motor vehicle then principally garaged or principally used in this State, unless it contains a provision insuring the persons defined as insured against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of these motor vehicles within the United States or Canada, subject to limits exclusive of interest and costs, with respect to each motor vehicle, as follows....

S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-77-140 (1976, as amended) (emphasis added).

2. The Montana and the Adams are “motor vehicles” for purposes of insurance statutes.

As discussed above, the Policy is an automobile insurance policy and USAA is an automobile insurer, so the statute squarely applies to the Montana and the Adams if they are “motor vehicles,” which they are. The Circuit Court erred in reaching the contrary conclusion.

In analyzing this issue, the Circuit Court began by analyzing the correct statutory definition set forth in Section 38-77-30 (9), but misinterpreted it. That statute provides:

“Motor vehicle” means every self-propelled vehicle which is designed for use upon a highway, *including trailers and semitrailers designed for use with these vehicles* but excepting traction engines, road rollers, farm trailers, tractor cranes, power shovels and well-drillers, and every vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires but not operated upon rails.

S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-77-30 (9) (1976, as amended) (emphasis added).

The Circuit Court erroneously concluded that this definition’s phrase “self-propelled” applies to trailers such as the Montana and Adams, which are admittedly not self-propelled. (R. pp. __; Order dated November 30, 2023, pp. 2-3). Specifically, it found: “To fall within the definition of ‘motor vehicle’ a vehicle must be self-propelled and designed for use upon a highway.” (R. p. __; Order dated November 30, 2023, p. 2). However, that conclusion is at odds with the express language of the statute. *See Miller*, 364 S.C. at 307, 613 S.E.2d at 366 (“When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.”), *citing Carolina Power & Light Co. v. City of Bennettsville*, 314 S.C. 137, 139, 442 S.E.2d 177, 179 (1994).

The statute lists three categories of vehicles, the first two of which are included in the definition of “motor vehicles” and the third of which is not:

1. Self-propelled vehicles designed for highway use.
2. Trailers intended for use with self-propelled vehicles designed for highway use.
3. “[T]raction engines, road rollers, farm trailers, tractor cranes, power shovels and well-drillers, and every vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires but not operated upon rails.”

The General Assembly could easily have specified that trailers must be self-propelled to be considered within the definition of “motor vehicles” – in which case the statute would have stated “every self-propelled vehicle which is designed for use upon a highway, including self-

propelled trailers and semitrailers” or “every self-propelled vehicle which is designed for use upon a highway, every self-propelled trailer and semitrailer which is designed for use upon a highway” – but it did not. The fact that the General Assembly used the subject adjective with regard to one group of vehicles but not the other shows it did not intend for “self-propelled” to modify “trailers and semitrailers” and the Circuit Court erred in reaching the contrary conclusion. *See State v. Leopard*, 349 S.C. 467, 472-73, 563 S.E.2d 342, 345 (Ct. App. 2002) (“The canon of construction ‘*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*’ or ‘*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*’ holds that ‘to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.’”), quoting *S.C. Dept. of Consumer Affairs v. Rent-a-Center*, 345 S.C. 251, 256, 547 S.E.2d 881, 883-84 (Ct. App. 2001); *see also Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 650 S.E.2d 465 (2007) (when interpreting a statute, words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction which limit or expand the statute’s operation).

That the General Assembly did not intend to apply “self-propelled” to trailers is even more clearly demonstrated by the fact that, in the clause listing trailers, it modified “trailers and semitrailers” to mean those used with “these vehicles,” a reference to the statute’s first clause listing “self-propelled vehicles.” Also, even if there could be such a thing as a self-propelled trailer,⁴ it would not need to be used with a self-propelled vehicle because it would have its own

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