RECEIVED

Apr 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000107

Jill S. Amoruso, Appellant,

v.

United Services Automobile Association d/b/a USAA..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

WHELAN MELLEN & NORRIS, LLC

Charles R. Norris, Esquire
Robert W. Whelan, Esquire
89 Broad Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 998-7099

E-Mail: charles@whelanmellen.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. USAA was not required by S.C. Code Sections 38-77-140 and 160 to make a separate offer of UIM coverage for non-motorized trailers, over and above the coverage provided for the plaintiff’s four motor vehicles.

A. South Carolina’s mandatory automobile insurance coverages are applicable to “each motor vehicle.”

S.C. Code sections 38-77-140 and 160 work in tandem with respect to the liability coverages required to be provided and UIM coverages required to be offered. Section 160 requires

UIM offers “up to the limits of the insured liability coverage.”¹ Thus, no UIM offer is required under section 160, unless liability coverage is also required under 140.² Importantly, section 140 sets forth standard liability limits which must be provided “with respect to **each motor vehicle.**” (emphasis added).³

B. Motor vehicles are self-propelled vehicles designed for highways and are generally inclusive of and considered one unit with their trailers.

Section 38-77-30(9), a tortured reading of which serves as the backbone of plaintiff’s argument, provides an explanation of what is meant by “each motor vehicle” in section 140. Subsection 9 makes clear that a motor vehicle *includes* a trailer or semi-trailer attached to it. S.C. Code § 38-77-30(9) (“‘Motor vehicle’ means every self-propelled vehicle which is designed for use upon a highway, including trailers and semitrailers designed for use with these vehicles”). Thus, an insurer cannot exclude coverage to a motor vehicle because a wreck was caused by its trailer—the trailer would be *included* as part of the motor vehicle and thus subject to liability coverage under section 140.

As noted by Judge McCoy, the word "includes" is ordinarily a word of enlargement and not of limitation. *Baker v. Chavis*, 306 S.C. 203, 208-09, 410 S.E.2d 600, 603 (Ct. App. 1991)

¹ These statutes also work hand in hand with the state’s Motor Vehicle Financial Responsibility Act, at S.C. Code § 56-9-10, *et seq.* The Motor Vehicle Financial Responsibility Act includes a definition of “Motor Vehicle” that is nearly identical to that contained at section 38-77-30(9). S.C. Code § 56-9-20(4)

² Although plaintiff’s Complaint did not seek to reform the policy to include additional liability limits for her trailers, she now apparently recognizes that additional liability coverage would be necessary to support a duty to offer UIM as she argues USAA "should also have provided liability coverage" on the camper and horse trailer. (App. Br., 13); see also Transcript of hearing on summary judgment, page 12) (“frankly, this policy should have also had liability coverage on these two trailers.”); (R. 51)

³ The plaintiff agrees that her appeal hinges on whether her trailers are “motor vehicles.” She argues the “dispositive question” is whether USAA is an automobile insurer, and whether her trailers (which she gives the monikers the Montana and the Adams) were motor vehicles. (App. Br., 6). USAA does not contest that it is an automobile insurer.

(citing *N.C. Turnpike Authority v. Pine Island, Inc.*, 265 N.C. 109, 143 S.E.2d 319 (1965)). Applying this definition to section 38-77-30 (9), the only reasonable statutory construction is that a motor vehicle is inclusive of its "trailers and semitrailers" designed for use with that motor vehicle, and that separate insurance is not needed for each trailer under Chapter 77.⁴

Although it considered the subject in a different context, the South Carolina Supreme Court has thoroughly analyzed and explained the context in which trailers are to be considered as *one unit* with the motor vehicles that tow them. In *Fruehauf Trailer Co. v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co.*, the court analyzed whether an injured party's lien on a tortfeasor's vehicle would extend to a trailer towed by that vehicle. 223 S.C. 320, 75 S.E.2d 688 (1953). The court explained that a trailer posed no danger until it was attached to and became an appendage of a motor vehicle. "A trailer in and of itself does not have inherent dangerous properties since it is not self-propelled and can be operated only when attached to a motor vehicle, but when once attached it becomes a part of a power operated vehicle with dangerous potentialities, and therefore subject to lien for damages for the negligent or wilful operation of the power unit of which it has been made a part." *Id.* at 325, 75 S.E.2d at 690.⁵ As a result, "The trailer and the truck-tractor are one unit. They are both part of one operation out of which the damages arose." *Id.* at 323, 75 S.E. 2d 689. Along the same lines, this Court referred to this same "'unit' rule" under which "a truck and trailer are to be treated as a unit for the purposes of determining liability for the accident," though that rule was not relevant to the Court's decision. *North Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 304 S.C. 110, 113, 403 S.E.2d 151, 153 (Ct. App. 1991). *See also*, 60 C.J.S. Motor Vehicles,

⁴ Plaintiff's interpretation, discussed below, is the exact opposite of this: she argues trailers are *separate* "motor vehicles" that are considered *separate* and apart from the motor vehicle that tows them, and are therefore required to have *separate* liability, UM, and UIM insurance.

⁵ This observation is equally applicable if the final phrase is substituted with "and therefore subject to the requirements of the Motor Vehicle Financial Responsibility Act."

1(a)) (“A trailer or a semi-trailer is a vehicle, but is not a motor vehicle, except that in so far as it facilitates the primary function of a motor vehicle of transporting persons and things, *after being attached to the motor vehicle for that purpose, it may be regarded as becoming a part of the motor vehicle*, although as to the latter proposition there is also authority to the contrary.” (as quoted by *Fruehauf Trailer*, at 326, 75 S.E. 2d at 690) (emphasis added); *Miller v. Aiken*, 364 S.C. 303, 309, 613 S.E.2d 364, 367 (2005) (treating “tractor-trailer” as one unit).

The legislature’s drafting of 38-77-30 (9) such that the definition of a motor vehicle includes its trailer is consistent with treatment of motor vehicles and their trailers as one unit by courts in 1953, 1991, and 2005. Judge McCoy’s reading of the statute is consistent with this law, as well as common sense.

C. USAA’s policy complied with S.C. Code sections 38-77-140 and 160.

USAA provided automobile insurance coverage in at least the amounts required by section 140 for “each” of the “motor vehicles” owned by Plaintiff—a 2013 Volkswagen, a 2015 Volkswagen, a 2016 Dodge, and a 2014 Nissan. (R. 92-96) Under section 38-77-30 (9)’s definition of motor vehicle, USAA could not exclude coverage for a trailer designed for use with these vehicles, as the trailer would be considered one unit with the motor vehicle. And USAA complied with the statute: its policy defines “Your covered auto” as including “any trailer you own.” (R. p. 105; Policy, p. 4); see also *Id.* (defining trailer as a “vehicle designed to be pulled by a private passenger auto, pickup, van, or miscellaneous vehicle...”). (R. 105)

D. USAA has complied with the UIM offer requirements and paid Plaintiff \$1,200,000 in UIM benefits on all *motorized* vehicles she owned and insured.

Plaintiff cannot contest that USAA properly offered UIM coverage on all four of her motorized vehicles, and has paid her all of the \$1,200,000 in UIM coverage she chose to purchase.

II. The Plaintiff's construction of section 38-77-30(9) is wrong.

Plaintiff offers a construction that turns section 38-77-30(9) on its head and is not supported by any authority: it excises one half of the phrase “motor vehicle; it relies on a tortured reading that would produce absurd results; it is not supported by any case; and it would result in a radical transformation of the insurance industry.

A. Contrary to Plaintiff's interpretation, a motor vehicle requires a motor.

Plaintiff's construction of “motor vehicle” would contradict the term itself. One could only conclude that a non-self-propelled trailer is a “*motor* vehicle,” by castrating the term's first word—“motor.” To borrow from Mark Twain, this is akin to ignoring one half or the other of “lightning bug.”

At the risk of stating the obvious, a motor vehicle must have, definitionally, some type of motor. This common-sense observation is supported by common-law definitions of “motor vehicle,” only the most recent of which Judge McCoy cited. *See, Jack's Custom Cycles, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 439 S.C. 35, 46, 885 S.E.2d 433, 439 (Ct. App. 2023) (defining "motor vehicle" as a vehicle which is self-propelled and a vehicle "operated by a power developed within itself...")(citing 60 C.J.S. *Motor Vehicles* § 1, 118-19 (2012)). And though Plaintiff takes issue with *Jack's Custom Cycles* as being a tax case, the simple fact that a motor vehicle requires a motor has been stated in other contexts since the advent of the automobile. “In 1905 the General Assembly, in providing for rules of the road, defined a motor vehicle as used in the Act, as all vehicles propelled by gasoline, explosive vapor, steam, electricity or other kindred power.” *Fruehauf Trailer*, at 324, 75 S.E. 2d at 689-90. *See also, Bolt v. Life & Cas. Ins. Co. of Tenn.*, 156 S.C. 117, 152 S.E. 766, 767 (1930) (“The term ‘motor-driven car’ is made up of two words, motor-driven and car. In Webster's New International Dictionary, the meaning of ‘motor-driven’ is given

as, ‘Driven or actuated by a motor.’”); *Gunn v. Burnette*, 236 S.C. 496, 498, 115 S.E.2d 171, 172 (1960) (“To ‘operate motor vehicle’ usually means ... that *power of motor* is applied to wheels to *move automobile* forward or backward.”) (emphasis added) (quoting *State v. Sullivan*, 82 A.2d 629 (M.E. 1951)); *White v. S.C. Dept. of Parks, Recreation and Tourism*, 271 S.C. 9, 94, 245 S.E.2d 125, 127 (Ct. App. 1978) (“a motor vehicle is defined as one which is operated by a *power developed within itself* and used for the purpose of carrying passengers or materials.”) (emphasis added) (quoting 60 C.J.S. *Motor Vehicles* § 1).

Ironically, the plaintiff acknowledges that “no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage or superfluous” in statutory construction. (Br. p. 11) Yet she would have this Court violate this maxim by ignoring one half of the two-word phrase at issue. For this reason alone, the plaintiff’s construction fails.

B. The last sentence of the subject definition contradicts plaintiff’s construction.

At page 9 of her brief, the plaintiff block quoted the definition she construes, but omitted the last of its three sentences. The missing sentence clearly contradicts her interpretation and reads: “For purposes of this chapter, the term automobile has the same meaning as motor vehicle.”⁶ An automobile is manifestly a *motor-driven* car. *See, Bolt v. Life & Cas. Ins. Co. of Tenn.*, 156 S.C. 117, 152 S.E. 766, 772 (1930) (“an automobile [] manifestly is a ‘motor-driven car...’”). Its etymology is a combination of the words auto and mobile, and translates as self-propelled.

⁶ The full text of the subject section is as follows:

“Motor vehicle” means every self-propelled vehicle which is designed for use upon a highway, including trailers and semitrailers designed for use with these vehicles but excepting traction engines, road rollers, farm trailers, tractor cranes, power shovels and well-drillers, and every vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires but not operated upon rails. Mopeds are considered to be motor vehicles for the purposes of uninsured motor vehicle insurance coverage and underinsured motor vehicle insurance coverage only. For purposes of this chapter, the term automobile has the same meaning as motor vehicle.

Merriam-Webster's online dictionary, Etymology, available at <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/automobile> (last checked March 5, 2024).

As plaintiff readily admits in her footnote 4, a trailer is not self-propelled. It therefore cannot come within the meaning of automobile. Thus, the legislature's statement that motor vehicle "has the same meaning" as automobile "for purposes of this chapter" further supports the Circuit Court's ruling that a non-self-propelled trailer is not a motor vehicle.⁷

C. Plaintiff's interpretation misstates the Circuit Court's holding to create conflicts that do not exist.

Plaintiff twists the language of 38-77-30(9) in knots that are simply not present. A strawman is first constructed through the claim that the Circuit Court "concluded that this definition's phrase 'self-propelled' applies to trailers." (App. Br., 9). Then four full pages are spent knocking down this strawman. (App. Br., 9-12). But the Circuit Court never made such a conclusion, it merely held that motor vehicles *include* their trailers. Thus, the plaintiff's odyssey through the rules of grammatical and statutory construction that this supposed conclusion violated are immaterial and based upon a faulty premise.

The plaintiff also improperly divides the statute into "three categories of vehicles"; actually, there are two: (1) self-propelled vehicles designed for highway use, including their trailers; and (2) a list of certain exceptions. It is true the exceptions appear to fall outside the definition, as none of them are vehicles designed for highway use, and at least one, farm trailers, is not self-propelled. But it is not true, as Plaintiff contends, that this renders the definition nugatory, such that "motor vehicle" includes anything not specifically excluded, whether or not it

⁷ Plaintiff's interpretation is also contradicted by the Legislature's express "declaration of purpose" in Chapter 77, *Automobile Insurance*, which purpose was to "reform *automobile* insurance," to establish criteria for "*automobile* insurance risk" to ensure "entitle[ment] to *automobile* insurance," and to make benefits available "for *motor* vehicles registered in this State." S.C. Code 38-77-10 (1)-(4) (emphasis added).

falls within the definition. The fact the legislature may have, perhaps in an abundance of caution, due to political reasons, or due to changes in the statute over time, included exceptions which all fall outside of the subject definition, does not render the definition meaningless.

The plaintiff argues that because campers and horse trailers are not included in these 7 listed exceptions, the corollary is that they must be included within the definition of "motor vehicle." Such statutory construction would require the legislature to specifically list every conceivable type of non-motorized vehicle—from a wheelbarrow to a train—to be itemized in the exclusion. Plaintiff bases this argument on the *expressio unis est exclusio alterius* canon, which has been criticized as “not even lexicographically accurate, because it is simply not true, generally, that the mere express conferral of a right or privilege in one kind of situation implies the denial of the equivalent right or privilege in other kinds. Sometimes it does and sometimes it does not, and whether it does or does not depends on the particular circumstances of context.” Black’s Law Dictionary, p. 602 (7th Ed. 1999) (quoting, Dickerson, Reed, *the Interpretation and Application of Statutes*, 234-35 (1975)). This Court has held the *expressio unis* maxim “should be used with care” and “should be used to accomplish legislative intent, not defeat it.” *See, e.g. S.C. Dept. of Consumer Affairs v. Rent-A-Ctr., Inc.*, 345 S.C. 251, 256, 547 S.E.2d 881, 884 (Ct. App. 2001) (internal quotations and citations omitted). Plaintiff’s application of the maxim defeats legislative intent as it would render meaningless the phrases “self-propelled” and “designed for use upon a highway,” such that any non-expected vehicle, from wheelbarrows, to trailers, to trains, would all become “motor vehicles,” which would contravene another principle of statutory construction—a statute should not be construed to reach an absurd result.

D. *Miller v. Aiken* does not support the plaintiff’s position.

From page 14 through 16, the plaintiff argues that *Miller v. Aiken* “actually supports Amoruso’s position.” It does not. *Miller* affirms the proposition that “Section 38–77–160 requires

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